No. 71830-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS

Division I

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Petitioner,

JOHN BLACKMON

JENIFER L. BLACKMON

Respondent,



ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SNOHOMISH COUNTY IN AND FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Honorable Judge THOMAS J. WYNNE

OPENING BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER

By: JOHN BLACK MON

Coyote Ridge Correction Center P.O. Box 769 Connell, WA 99326

Α.	IDI	ENTITY OF THE PARTY 1
В.	ASS	SIGNMENT OF ERRORS 1
C.	STA	ATEMENT OF FACTS 2
D.	ARG	GUMENT ON REVIEW 3
	1.	Does the trial court's consideration of the Wife as sole supporter of the children in division of this property abuse discretion in light of the facts? 3

A. IDENTITY OF THE PARTY

I, JOHN BLACKMON, Petitioner, Pro Se, seeks a review of the issues presented in Part-B, from the Snohomish County Superior Court.

B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

- 1. Does the trial court's consideration of the Wife as the sole supporter of the children in division of the property and assets abuse discretion in light of the facts in the record on support?
- 2. Does the trial court abuse discretion awarding the assets and property no longer owned by the parties?
- 3. Does the trial court abuse discretion to award the wife items requested by parties other than wife or husband, ignoring appraised value of the assets?
- 4 Did trial court abuse discretion when awarding the minor children compensation for savings accounts?
- 5. Did trial court error basing division of assets and parenting plan rulings on mental illness of husband?
- 6. Did trial court abuse discretion in parenting plan that blocked Father's contact with his children?
- 7. Did trial abuse discretion by proving the wife's attorney control over the property removal, when the attorney requested court's direction?
- 8. Does trial court abuse discretion in 90 days to remove Husband's property?

The parties shall be designated "Husband" and "Wife" for the remainder of this briefing.

C. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Husband and Wife had been married for nearly 20 years at the time of the disolution filing, and had substantial assets in the community. CP 116 In 21-23; CP 117, CP 124 In 1-3.

The Husband was incarcerated in the county jail, facing the potential of a long prison term, and the Husband felt it best to disolve the marriage. 1VRP16 In 23-25; CP 121 In 20-25.

The Husband filed the petition, and began the proceedings to cleanly break from his wife of many many years, and was in fact being very reasonable in seeking to have an auction for purposes of disolution. 1VRP13 In 15-23; 1VRP15 In 2-20.

The Husband contacted an auction company, and had couples assets appraised for this purpose during proceedinga, however an auction was not held, due to the court's rulings. OP 128 Ln 23...

The Husband was accused by his oldest child of improper and illegal conduct, and faced criminal charges in 2012. The first two trials resulted in hung jury, and the third got a conviction, giving the Husband many years in prison. 3VRP2

The trial court did not allow the Husband present during the civil trial proceedings, and did not allow the Husband to be present during the division of the assets, therefore these ruling were entered on record without objection of Husband.

The wife's attorney was charged with the duty of taking Husbands property removal under his offices direction by this trial court, and refused the Husband's agents access to take possession of the awarded assets of the Husband. CP 79

D. ARGUMENTS PRESENTED

 DOES THE TRIAL COURT'S CONSIDERATION OF THE WIFE AS SOLE SUPPORTER OF THE CHILDREN IN DIVISION OF PROPERTY ABUSE DISCRETION INLIGHT OF THE FACTS?

The Husband and Wife, after over 20 years of marriage, had decided to separate. The husband's incarceration January 11th of 2012 left the Wife with the sole duty of support of the three children IB age 17, ZB age 15, and BB age 13 years. CP 23 In 18-20.

Based on the criminal sentence imposed the Wife will be the supporter of the children for the remainder of their minority life, where the Husband's release is not scheduled until after 2024. 3WRP2 In 22-24.

The trial court based the 67% Wife 33% Husband division of assets and property ruling on theses facts, ignoring that Wife's support is compensated by the Husband's disability for the three children each month. 3VRP3; 3VRP4 Ln 8-9; 3VRP8 Ln 14-20.

It is not disputed that the trial court "must dispose of the property and liabilities of the parties, either community or separate, in a just and equitable manner, considering all relevant factors" see In Re Marriage of Muhammad, 153 Wa. App. 795, 108 P.3d 779 (2005). The court reviews the property division "for an abuse of discretion". Muhammad, 153 Wa. App. at 803, 108 P.3d 779 (2005). CP 55 In 16-17; CP 142 In 7-10; CP 143 In 4-10; CP 146 In 13.

"The court has broad discretion to determine what is just and equitable based in the circumstances of each case. see <u>In Re Marriage</u> of Rockwell, 141 Wa. App. 253, 170 P.2d 572 (2007). However, that discretion must be based in the facts of the case before the trial court for review and decisions, not speculations, OP 23 Ln 17-20.

The just and equitable division need not require mathmatical percision, but rather fairness, based upon a consideration of all circumstances of the marriage, both past, present, and a review of the future needs of the parties. see <u>In Re Marriage of Crosetto</u>, 82 Wa. App. 545, 556, 918 P.2d 954 (1996). "Fairness is obtained by considering all circumstances of the marriage, and by exercizing discretion, not by utilizing the inflexible rules." <u>In Re Marriage of Towers</u>, 55 Wa. App. 697, 780 P.2d 863 (1989). This would have required the court consider the amount of support the father and Husband is paying from disability currently.

The trial court did not consider or follow these basicly established principles of property division, where the court did ignore factors relevant to the Wife's "sole support" of the three children. The trial court's record establishes the trial court is aware of the Husband's actual financial support of the children at the time of the ruling. CP 72 In 23-25; CP 73 In 1-9; CP 154 In 13-25,

There is clear records showing that the court knew the Wife received monthly support payments from the Husband's disability account through 'social security' for each child, which totaled a monthly sum of more that \$1100.00 support. 3VRP3; CP 28 In 25.

Therefore the trial court's stated factual basis for unequal property division is unsupported by the facts in record known to the trial court at the time of the ruling. The ruling is thereby an abuse of the trial court's dicretionary powers. CP 23 In 18-20.

The Wife should not be provided an additional 17% of these assets and property for supporting the children, when the Husband supports the children through his 'social security' accounts. CP 41.

The case law suggests that when a trial court gives un-equal division of assets in lieu of child support obligations, then the support obligation is satisfied completely, and the property does take the place of any future support. In Re Marriage of Hammack, 114 Wa. App. at 805, 60 P.3d 663 (2003)("a disparative division of property may satisfy one spouce's child support obligation. But in making such award, the trial court must acknowledge that the property settlement is disparative because trial court awarded a portion of the property in lieu of child support payments.") see also In Re Marriage of Babbit, 50 Wa. App. 190, 747 P.3d 507 (1987); Holiday V. Merceri, 49 Wa. App. 321, 742 P.3d 127 (1987).

The trial court abused discretion by finding that the Wife's the sole supporter of the children as basis for division of this community property, where the Husband's paying through his 'social Security Disability' monthly for each child under the age of the minority. The trial court basing the rulings on facts not found or supported by the record is abuse of discretion, and the matters contradicted by the actual record should be provided relief. 3VRP4.

The Husband should be granted relief, with proper division of the couple's assets provided, or monitary compensation for a amount of the assets disposed of since trial by the Wife. OP 73; CP 77.

2. DOES THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE DISCRETION AWARDING THE ASSETS AND PROPERTY NO LONGER OWNED BY THE PARTIES?

The trial court in the division of assets gave items to the Husband ababadoned by the Wife after Husband's incarceration on January 11, 2012. The Wife was the sole custodian of all marital community assets after the Husband's arrest and incarceration, and

had the sole responcibility to the marital community to ensure that all required payments are made timely for storage fees the couple owed on some of the stored property. 3VRP6 Ln 1-2; CP 169-170.

The Couple had owned a "Bee Keeping Hobby Business," with extensive assets and equipment, including the industrial truck and trailer the equipment is stored in, the farm-all tracktor court awarded separate to the Wife, which truck and trailer the Wife left abandoned on a farm not owned by the couple.

The couple had a 'Storage Unit' in Florida, containing all the couple's vacation home furnishings, two sea doo watercrafts, and extensive contractor's tools, which the Wife failed to pay and maintain the fees/costs of during Husband's incarceration.

The couple owned a 1990 diesel boat stored at a Everett Marina, which the Wife failed to maintain the storage fees of during these proceedings, and the boat was seized for auction by the marina before the Husband was awarded custody of this boat by the divorce decree. OP 169 Ln 3 thru CP 171 Ln 19.

The Court's disolution award provided these items to this Husband, as part of his 33% of the assets, even though none of these assets were part of the marital community, currently owned by the couple without attachments, at the time of the disolution trial, due to the Wife's conduct and failure to maintain current storage fees on the items. CP 127; CP 150 thru CP 156 In 22.

The trial court was aware the attorneys had the couple's monitary assets in a trust account until disolution, therefore the trial court should have made provisions for payments of the couple's obligations to maintain the marital assets until these

division proceedings were completed by the court, however this Wife never informed the court or opposing counsel that she was not making payment of all the couple's obligations. OP 163 to CP 165.

The Husband did not find this information out, or become aware of the Wife's conduct until after he attempted, through his agents to obtain access to the items awarded to the Husband in the decree of the trial court, then finding that they was a hold placed on the diesel boat for non-payment of storage, and that the Florida Storage was auctioned for non-payment of fees.

The farm owner had placed lien to seize the "Bee Equipment" abandoned on his property by the Wife during Husband's incarcer--ation term. CP 79 Ln 9; CP 185 Ln 3 to CP 186 Ln 1.

The couple had substantial cash assets in trust, and this trial court was aware that not all cash assets were accounted for at the time of disolution, however they surely are not in possession of the Husband in the correctional facility.

The trial court abused discretion not ordering that all the past-due storage fees be paid to current from the cash assets of the couple before division of those cash assets. This was this trial court's duty to dispose of all the couple's liabilities, which included the past-due storage fees. OP 169 In 18; OP 169 In 25.

The marital community lost several thousand dollars in assets to non-paid storage fees, and amazingly all those lost assets were awarded to the Husband in his 33% of the assets and property.

"If one or both of the parties dispose of an asset before trial, the court simply has no ability to distribute that asset at trial." In Re Marriage of White, 105 Wa. App. 545, 549, 20 P.3d 481 (2001).

The trial court lacked authority to award the items that are no longer part of the marital community in the Husband's 33% of the assets. The trial court was informed during the proceedings that McMillian Brothers Auction staff evaluated the marital items and the court had another appraiser evaluate the items located in this marital community, and neither of them could located sea doo watercrafts, nor addressed the "Bee Business Equipment," and there is no showing the 1990 diesel boat was actually apprased personally by either company.

Therefore the trial court should not have made award of the items the court was not properly advised on through the appraser, and the trial court should have address liabilities attached to all the marital assets before making any divisions.

The trial court properly considered the lien against their marital home, before giving the asset to the Wife's 67% share of assets, why did the trial court then fail to give the same type of considerations regarding assets awarded to the Husband?

The trial court abused discretion in this instance by awarding items over which the couple had lost ownership interest before the trial court entered the orders. The matter should be returned to the trial court for consideration of asset division, as the court's ruling is to give the Husband 33% of the actual assets owned by the marital community at the time of the division order, which could be accomplished with divisions of the vehicles and bank accounts known to the court at the time of division of assets. © 77 Ln 10-12.

The trial court should have only made the award based upon those assets found and verified through the appraisal firm, as it required the trial court only dispose of those assets that can be located and confirmed part of the actual marital community.

3. DOES THE TRIAL COURT HAVE DISCRETION TO AWARD THE WIFE ITEMS REQUESTED BY PARTIES OTHER THAN WIFE OR HUSBAND, IGNORING APPRASED VALUE OF THE ITEMS?

The marital community owned several firearms, and the trial court heard extensive testimony from McMillian Brothers Auctions company as to the extensive value of the firearms knowingly owned by the Husband and Wife.

The apprasal told the trial court the value was around six thousand dollars in assets of the firearms, however trial court listed the value around \$1200.00 for the collection of firearms without reason for the disparative value stated properly, or for court ignoring the expert opinion of someone licensed to sell at auction those firearms. OP 177 In 13 thru OP 178.

The trial court then awarded the Wife the firearms at lower 1200.00 dollar value as part of her 67% of the assets, because a family member apparently had possession of the firearms in question at the trial time. CP 15; CP 179 Ln 3-6.

The trial court also awarded the \$6000,00 dollar collector's truck to the Wife, finding that the couple's son wanted his dad's truck in the future, when the son is not party to the matters.

The trial court also awarded the 'Farm-All' collector's tracktor to the Wife, with a reduced value of \$3000.00 dollars attached by the trial court.

"The trial court is in the best position to decide issues of fairness" Brewer V. Brewer, 137 Wn.2d 756, 769, 976 P.2d 102 (1999).

The trial court discretionary ruling in denying the actual appraised value of the firearms is based on untenable reasoning, therefore an abuse of discretion has occurred. OP 75 Ln 10.

There was no 'substantial evidence' before the court to persuade a fair-minded person that the value of the firearms was less than the appraised \$6000.00 dollar value.

The trial court heard actual testimony from the appraiser on the value of the firearms in the marital community collection, as 'Steve McMillian' the autioneer with McMillian Brothers Auctions, licensed to sell firearms and vehicles. CP 75 Ln 1-10.

Neither the Court, nor Mr. McMillian actually seen the items for appraising, however, Mr. McMillian did discuss his experience in selling identical firearms of the same make and model as those in the marital community collection previously at auction.

The trial court ignored the appraised values, and assigned a reduced value of \$1200.00 dollars for the collection, before this court awarded such to the Wife's 67% share of assets. CP 75 Ln 10-12.

The trial court additionally assigned a reduced \$3000.00 dollar value to the couple's collector "Farm-All" tractor, and also awarded such to the Wife's share of assets.

The trial court then awarded the couple's collector truck to the son, after finding it had a reduced value of \$6000.00.

The trial court based these rulings on untenable grounds, where nothing supported the court's reduced values of the assets the court awarded the Wife. OP 24 In 20-21; CP 15 In 6.

The Husband was not allowed to be present during the property division hearings, therefore could not object to the court's acts

or conduct on the record, as the hearing was held after Husband's prison term was started. OP 23 Ln 3-5.

4. DID TRIAL COURT ABUSE DISCRETION WHEN AWARDING THE MINOR CHILDREN COMPENSATION FOR SAVINGS ACCOUNTS?

The facts before the court established that the Husband did remove funds in the three minor children's savings accounts during the divorce process, for his basic life necessities. CP 76 thru CP 77.

The funds were used to cover the daily living expenses of the Husband, where the Wife had control of the marital community funds, including all cash assets of the couple. OP 143; OP 144; OP 72; OP 125.

The trial court considered the Wife's pre-trial expenses for basic life necessities of approximately \$15,000 to \$25,000 dollars to be reasonable and required, then penilized the Husband's merely spending the sum of approximately \$4,500 dollars on his basic life necessities pre-trial improper or unreasonable. CP 125 Ln 21-22.

The trial court's ruling appears to abuse discretion, making a ruling on untenable grounds or untenable reasoning. see <u>In Re Marriage of Katare</u>, 175 Wn.2d 23, 283 P.3d 546 (2012); <u>In Re the Marriage of Littlefield</u>, 133 Wn.2d 39, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997).

The trial court's findings are treated as verities on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence. Ferrce V. Doric Co., 62 Wn.2d 561, 383 P.2d 900 (1963). CP 24; CP 25.

"Substantial evidence is evidence to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the matter asserted". In Re Marriage of Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23, 283 P.3d 546 (2012). CP 116; CP 117.

The trial court should have reasonably awarded the replacement of the children's savings accounts funds from the total marital

communities cash assets before division to either party, as had the Wife not held the cash assets of the marriage, the funds the Husband used would not have been removed from the children's accounts by the Husband/Father. OP 25 In 8-10.

In the alternative, the trial court should have made the Wife repay the marital community the \$15,000 to \$25,000 dollars used by the Wife pre-trial for basic life necessities and attorney fees, if the Husband has to repay the children's savings out of his own 33% of the marital assets division. 3WRPS; 3WRP5 In 14-18.

The marital community should have paid the Husband's loan of \$4,500 from the children's accounts, where the marital community paid the Wife's pre-trial living expenses for daily living.

A fair-minded person would have paid the children's funds from the total cash assets of the marital community before the court made any distributions of 67% Wife and 33% Husband of the cash assets. CP 23 Ln 18-21; 3WRP7 Ln 23 thru 3WRP8 Ln 3; 3WRP8 Ln 11-20.

However, the trial court ignore that the parents had a right to control the children's savings accounts however they senn fit for the minorty aged children, and those accounts cannot be the property of the children until they reach the proper ages.

The trial court should have made a ruling that provided for both the Husband's and the Wifes pre-trial living expenses, and and debts this divorce caused either party directly. CP 24; CP 25;

DID TRIAL COURT ERROR BASING DIVISION OF ASSETS AND PARENTING PLAN RULINGS ON MENTAL ILLNESS OF HUSBAND?

The trial court's holdings show the trial court found these records did not contain sufficient proof of mental illness of the

Husband for the trial court to rely on such mental illness during the rulings in this matter. OP 54; OP 72.

However, the trial court commented on the mental illness of the Husband during the hearings in disolution trial process, and such shows the trial court apparently based the division of assets and parenting plan rulings on such mental illness, without proper evidence in the record. OP 23; 1VRP18 In 21 thru 1VRP19 In 10.

The trial court had previously stricken a finding of mental illness of the Husband, and directed that there was no actual or substantiasl evidence of mental illness, which makes the later use and mention of mental illness an abuse of discretion. CP 23.

The Husband is entitled to have decisions made by a fair and impartial tribunal, which the record shows was not provided during these proceedings, where the record has comments to the Husband's being "finally incarcerated," and not being allowed to appear for the proceedings. OP 79 In 9; 3VRP10 In 9;

The trial court used untenable reasoning in the rulings the made based on the Husband's alleged mental illness, where court's own record admits the record lacked sufficient evidence of mental illness at the prior hearings. OP 23 Ln 15-17; VRP3 Ln 21-22.

6. DID TRIAL COURT ABUSE DISCRETION IN PARENTING PLAN THAT BLOCKED FATHER'S CONTACT WITH HIS CHILDREN?

The trial court made the ruling that the Husband/Father was prohibited contact with his children for their minority life.

The trial court based this on the fact that the father is in the prison system serving a sentence for alleged sexual type contact with the oldest child, whom was eighteen years at the time of the trial court's ruling, where the trial court felt that such contact could somehow effect the oldest child's relationship with the two younger children. CP 23 Ln 8-12; 1VRP18 Ln 2; 3VRP3 Ln 6.

The trial court's ruling is based on untenable grounds, as nothing in the records showed that the father ever had issue of abuse or sexual contact with either of the two younger children, therefore the trial court should not have stopped phone and letter contact with these two children. 3VRP3 In 6-12; CP 175 In 1-3.

The trial court stated on the records that the father would be in prison the rest of the childrens minority lives, and there is simply no evidence that letters and phone contact would cause the children distress of any kind. OP 177; OP 49; OP 109.

The Father does not dispute that he will have no contact of anykind with the oldest daughter, however without some evidence that letters and phone contact with the younger children would be detramental to the children, then the Father would seek contact with the two youngest children, age 16 and 14 currently. OP 22.

The trial court should remove the restrictions on this case ruling, and allow the contact by phone and letters, where these children are old enough to make the decision for themselves if they wish to speak with their father, and the father is not now seeking visitations on in home time with his children. OP 23 Ln 8-12.

7. THE COURT ABUSED DISCRETION BY PROVIDING RESPONDENT'S ATTORNEY CONTROL OVER THE PROPERTY REVOVAL?

The Wife's attorney asked the trial court to provide some type of process for the Husband's agent(s) to access the marital property and Home to remove the Husband's awarded personal property. 3VRP10....

The trial court opted to have the Wife's attorney make all arrangements for the removal of the Husband's property from the Wife's home and buildings within 90 days. 1VRP47; CP 25; CP 79.

The Husband's agents contacted the attorney 'Steven Shea' on several occasions to gain access to the home and buildings for removal of the property, however access was not provived to theses agents. OP 79; OP 26; 1VRP47 In 19-21.

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