No. 71830-4-I

COURT OF APPEALS THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

JENIFER L. BLACKMON, Respondent,

٧.

JOHN BLACKMON, Appellant.

AMENDED BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Steven B. Shea, WSBA 10718 Attorney for Respondent 3014 Hoyt Avenue Everett, WA 98201 Telephone: (425) 258-4242

Facsimile: (425) 252-3964

COURT OF APPEALS DIVI CSTATE OF WASHINGTON 2015 MAR 26 PM 2: 22

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

E. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court did not err in considering the Wife as sole supporter in determining the division of property.

Husband's argument appears to be one that there was no substantial evidence which supported the court's Findings of Fact 2.21.5 and 2.21.6 in making a disproportionate division of property in this case. CP 155. As long as the Findings of Fact are supported by substantial evidence, they will not be disturbed on appeal. In re

Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wn.App. 235 (2007). Contrary to the statements made in Appellant's Brief, the court considered evidence of Husband's disability pension in dividing the property of the parties. VRP 111,140-141, 167-169, 191, 216, 276, CP 154.

RCW 26.09.080 states the factors to be considered by the court in making an equitable division of property. Factor 4 of the statute states that "the economic circumstances of each spouse at the time the division of property is to become effective" is to be considered by the court. RCW 26.9.080(4). In applying that factor, the trial court has broad discretion in distributing the marital property and its decision will be reversed only if there is a manifest abuse of discretion. In re Marriage of Konzen, 103 Wn.2d 470, 478, 693 P.2d 97 cert. denied, 473 U.S. 906 (1985). The courts have ruled that the division does not need to be equal nor should it focus on mathematical preciseness. The court states that the goal of fairness is achieved "by considering all circumstances of the marriage and by exercising discretion, not by using inflexible rules". In re Marriage of Tower, 55 Wn.App. 697, 700, 780 P.2d 863 (1989), review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1002 (1990). Since the decision of the Court was based on evidence supplied at the time of trial, there was no abuse of discretion. VRP 140-141, 167-169, 191, 216, 276, CP 154. <u>In re Marriage of Sedlock</u>, 69 Wn.App. 484, 491, 849 P.2d 1243 (1993).

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in dividing assets owned by the parties in accordance with the record before the trial court.

RAP 2.4 sets forth a scope of review of a trial court decision. The rule states that the Appellate Court will review the decision or parts of the decision designated in the Notice of Appeal. RAP 2.4(a).

RAP 2.5 states that the Appellate Court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court, RAP 2.5(a).

The record on review only includes the Report of Proceedings, the Clerk's Papers and Exhibits. RAP 9.1(a). The Appellate Court can consider additional evidence on review if properly requested. RAP 9.11(a). No such request has been made of this court. As a result, the facts alleged by the Husband in his Appellate Brief are beyond the scope of the review as they are not a part of the Verbatim Report of the Proceedings or other evidence in this case.

Husband had a full opportunity to be present at the trial and to give testimony if he saw fit. Husband had witnesses at trial who gave testimony. VRP 21-41, 42-70. Husband was afforded all opportunity to litigate the case and chose the facts to be presented. The Appellate Court should not go beyond the record of the trial court as to facts that were not disputed at the trial.

In exercising its discretion, the trial court has jurisdiction to distribute assets owned by the parties at the time of trial. <u>In re Marriage of White</u>, 105 Wn.App. 545, 549 (2001). Here the Husband makes allegations regarding alleged disposition of assets. However, the trial court record does not support Husband's statements in his appeal brief. The Verbatim Report of Proceedings is full of references to the bee keeping business, storage units in Florida and the diesel boat referred to in his Appellate Brief. Bee keeping business: VRP 98-99, 171-174, 174-175, 235, 268-268. Storage units in Florida: VRP 104-105, 133, 105-106, 180-182, 269. Diesel boat: VRP 103-104, 134, 176-180, 256. They were assets still owned by the parties at the time of the trial.

3. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining the value of assets based upon the evidence at trial.

It is the duty of the trial court to weigh evidence and to determine that values of assets from conflicting testimony. In re Marriage of Green, 97 Wn.App. 708, 986 P.2d 144 (1999). The Husband's third assignment of error simply appears to be that he did not agree with the conclusions drawn by the court as to the value of property. However, as long as the Findings of Fact are supported by substantial evidence, they will not be disturbed on appeal. In re Marriage of Rockwell, 141 Wn.App. 235 (2007).

"Substantial evidence exists if the record contains evidence of sufficient quantity to persuade a fair minded rational person of the truth of the declared premise." <u>In re Marriage of Griswold</u>, 112 Wn.App 333, 48 P.3d 1018 (2002).

"When the trial court has weighed the evidence, the review court's role is simply to determine whether substantial evidence support the Findings of Fact and, if so, whether the findings in turn support the trial court's Conclusions of Law." <u>In re Marriage of Green</u>, 97 Wn.App 708, 986 P.2d 144 (1999).

An Appellate Court should not substitute its judgment for the trial courts. It should not weigh the evidence or judge witness's credibility. Husband would have the Appellate Court re-examine the evidence because he disagrees with how the assets were distributed and the values assigned to them after trial. In re Marriage of Sedlock, 69 Wn.App. 484, 491, 849 P.2d 1243 (1993).

When parties offer conflicting evidence in valuation, the court may adopt the value asserted by either party or any value in between the two. <u>In re Marriage of Rockwell</u>, 141 Wn.App. 235 (2007). VRP 21-41, 42-70, Ex. 34, VRP 256-269. That is what happened here.

4. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in ordering the Appellate to repay funds taken by him out of bank accounts owned by the parties and designated for each of the parties' minor children.

Husband acknowledges using funds held for the parties' children by removing monies from bank accounts designated for the children, Appellant's Brief at 11.

These accounts were held in the names of the parties, as the children were minors. VRP 153-155, 272. 299-300. The taking of these funds created a debt owed by the Husband. The monies were taken by him after separation and before trial. Brief of Appellate at 11. Whether the bank accounts are considered an asset or a debt of the parties, the funds were subject to being allocated and divided by the court. In re Marriage of Griswold, 112 Wn.App. 333, 48 P.3d 1018 (2002).

Husband's complaints in this area of his brief appear to simply be a disagreement with what the court ordered and it does not rise to the level of an abuse of discretion.

Husband took funds from those accounts and used them for his own purposes. Since they were an asset of the marital community, they were subject to being divided as all property, both community and separate, was before the court for division. The court properly ruled in requiring the Husband to replace the funds improperly taken by him.

5. The trial court did not err in dividing assets and ordering a Parenting Plan on the basis of the evidence before it.

The Husband wrongfully states in his Appellate Brief that a finding of mental illness was a basis for the division of property and the Parenting Plan. There was no Finding of Fact that states that the court's chosen allocations of assets between the parties was based upon mental illness. CP 155. Therefore, there was no error.

6. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that there was a basis for Section 191 limitations on the Husband in the Final Order Parenting Plan.

A trial court's Parenting Plan is reviewed for an abuse of discretion as well. <u>In re Marriage of Katare</u>, 175 Wn.2d 23 (2012). A trial court wields broad discretion when fashioning a Permanent Parenting Plan. <u>In re Marriage of Kovics</u>, 121 Wn.2d 795, 801, 855 P.2d 629 (1993).

RCW 26.09.191 clearly mandates that a basis for restrictions on a parent's residential time with the children may be based on a history of acts of domestic violence. RCW 26.09.191 states in part as follows:

RCW 26.09.191:

- (2)(a) The parent's residential time with the child shall be limited if it is found that the parent has engaged in any of the following conduct:
- (ii) physical, sexual, or a pattern of emotional abuse of a child;
- (iii) a history of acts of domestic violence as defined in RCW 26.50.010(1) or an assault or sexual assault which causes grievous bodily harm or the fear of such harm; or
- (iv) the parent has been convicted as an adult of a sex offense under ...

The evidence before the court was clear that the Husband had been convicted of the crime of sexual assault and therefore under the statute, a limitation on the father's contact with his minor children was mandated by statute. The court clearly and appropriately ruled that Husband should have no contact with the children by any means during the remainder of their minority. To do otherwise would have been an abuse of the trial court's discretion. RCW 26.09.191. CP 135, 155.

The information contained in the Appellant Brief on this point is again beyond the scope of the record in this matter and should not be considered by the Appellate Court. RAP 9.1(a).

RAP 2.4 sets forth a scope of review of a trial court decision. The rule states that the Appellate Court will review the decision or parts of the decision designated in the Notice of Appeal. RAP 2.4(a). RAP 2.5 states that the Appellate Court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a).

The record on review only includes the Report of Proceedings, the Clerk's Papers and Exhibits. RAP 9.1(a). The Appellate Court can consider additional evidence on review if properly requested. RAP 9.11(a). No such request has been made of this court. As a result, the facts alleged by the Husband in his Appellate Brief are beyond the scope of the review as they are not a part of the Verbatim Report of the Proceedings or other evidence in this case.

7. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in naming Respondent's attorney as the contact for Appellant's agent in light of the No Contact Order between Appellant and Respondent.

The information contained in the Appellate brief on this point is inaccurate, beyond the scope of the record in this matter and should not be considered by the Appellate Court. RAP 9.1(a). CP 156.

Findings of Fact 2.21.24 is the provision of the pleadings that gave Husband ninety days to remove his property. CP 155. The court in that finding did not state that Wife's attorney had any control over the property removal. The Finding of Fact simply states that any of Husband's agents or proxies should go through Wife's attorney's office to make arrangements. Finding of Fact 2.21.24, CP 155.

The real issue is whether the trial court gave the Husband a reasonable opportunity to remove his property entry rendering its decision. CP 156. It did so.

8. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in giving the Appellant ninety days to take possession of his property.

The Husband's assignment of error appears to be a disagreement with the methodology used by the court for the Husband to remove his property from the real property of the Wife. CP 155, 156. The Husband made no post trial motions to the trial court on this issue. The Wife did not prevent the enforcement of the trial court's decision. No Notice of Supersedeas in the trial court with the filing of any bond was made. RAP 8.1. No stay was sought. RAP 8.3. No motion under RAP 17 was filed.

The information contained in the Appellate brief on this point is again beyond the scope of the record in this matter and should not be considered by the Appellate Court. RAP 9.1(a).

The real issue is whether the trial court in giving the Husband ninety days offered him a reasonable opportunity to remove his property after entry rendering its oral decision.

A trial court is given broad latitude in setting terms and conditions for enforcement of provisions of a Decree of Dissolution. In re Marriage of Griswold, 112 Wn.App 333, 48 P.3d 1018, (2002).

Giving the Petitioner ninety days within which to remove his property was a reasonable exercise of discretion by the trial court. Whether or not the Husband exercised his rights within that period of time are not before the Appellate Court.

Husband's statements that he was deprived an opportunity to object to the court's conduct is not correct. He was represented by counsel at the trial and all proceedings thereafter. VRP 1. Hearings were never closed to him or to anyone else as they were held in open court.

Husband knew of his rights to be transported for proceedings as he had previously been transported to the court and, therefore, none of his rights were violated in that regard although failure to transport him is not one of the issues before the court as an assignment of error.

The trial court does not abuse its discretion in failing to rule on an issue never brought to the trial court. The Court of Appeals will not consider those questions. <u>Bradley v. Fowler</u>, 30 Wn.2d 609, 621 (1948). Husband never raised those issues.

Husband offers no authority for his position that the trial court abused its discretion in affording him ninety days within which to remove his property from the real property of the Wife.

F. ATTORNEY'S FEES

Wife is requesting an award of attorney's fees and costs in this matter based upon Civil Rule 11 (Frivolous Appeal) and RCW 26.09.140 and In Re Marriage of Hunter. 52 Wn.App. 265 review denied, 112 Wn.2d 1006 (1989).

G. CONCLUSION

The assignments of errors raised by the Husband in his Appellant Brief fail to raise objections to specific findings of fact. The arguments made by him are beyond the record and therefore beyond the scope of the Appellate Court to deal with or address.

The record before the Appellate Court clearly shows that there was substantial evidence for the Trial Court's decision on all points and Husband's protestations lack any merit.

The decision of the Trial Court was correct in all respects within the discretion of the Trial Judge. This matter should be affirmed.